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ADIL AMRANI, AKRAM JAWAD, IMAN KADOM,

ALI HUSSAIN, ASO HUSSAIN, FAYEZ AYOUB,

SAMIR OTHMAN, EL SHAFEY ASHOUR, MOHAMMED
YOUSUF, SAMEEH AYYOUBI, MOHAMED B.
MOHAMED LAMINE, KHALIL HAMDAN, NABIL
BOUGHENNA, and SABAH BABAMIR,

Plaintiffs-Petitioners,

V.

SUSAN DUGAS, Orlando Field Office Director for U.S.
Citizenship and Immigration Services (“CIS”), KATHY
REDMAN, Tampa Field Office Director for CIS, EMILIO
T. GONZALEZ, Director of CIS, MICHAEL CHERTOFF,
Secretary, U.S. Department of Homeland Security (“DHS”),
ROBERT S. MUELLER, III, Director, Federal Bureau of
Investigation (“FBI”), and MICHAEL B. MUKASEY,

U.S. Attorney General,

Defendants.
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COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND DECLARATORY RELIEF
AND PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS

1. Plaintiffs-Petitioners (“Plaintiffs”) are lawful permanent residents of the
United States who applied to become U.S. citizens more than two (2) to five (5) years
ago. Although Plaintiffs successfully completed their naturalization interviews long ago,
they have yet to receive any decision on their applications.

2. Federal law requires that administrative agencies conclude matters

presented to them “within a reasonable time.” 5 U.S.C. § 555. Federal law also requires
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that the U.S. Bureau of Citizenship and Immigration Services (“CIS”) adjudicate
applications for naturalization within 120 days of a naturalization interview, see 8 C.F.R.
§ 335.

3. Plaintiffs’ naturalization interviews, however? were completed long ago
(from at least 660 days to as many as 1,468 days as of the filing of this suit), and there has
still been no decision on their applications.

4, Plaintiffs have made multiple inquiries into the status of their cases over the
years, but have been told or have reason to believe that their applications are delayed
solely due to the pendency of an indefinite “background” or “security” check.

5. Notwithstanding, Plaintiffs — who have been law-abiding members of the
community for years — have not been advised that there is any problem, issue or question
about their background. Instead, Plaintiffs have simply been told that they must continue
to wait, indefinitely, and with no end in sight.

6. As a result, Plaintiffs suffer the hardships of unreasonably and unlawfully
delayed naturalization, including anxiety over their immigration status, prolonged family
separations, and the inability to participate in the political process by voting.

7. Because this extraordinary delay is unreasonable and unlawful, Plaintiffs
seek an order from the Court directing Defendants to compiete all necessary steps and

adjudicate their applications within thirty (30) days of the Court’s order.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 8
U.S.C. § 1447(b) (jurisdiction to adjudicate delayed naturalization applications or remand
with specific instructions), 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question), and 28 U.S.C. § 1361
(mandamus).

9. Venue is proper in the Middle District of Florida pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1391(e). Plaintiffs sue Defendants in their official capacities as officers and employees
of the United States, and Plaintiffs reside in the Middle District of Florida. Venue is also
proper in this District pursuant to 8 U.S.C. § 1447(b), which provides that a petition for
review of a naturalization application shall be filed in the district where the applicant
resides.

PARTIES

Plaintiffs

10.  Plaintiffs ASO HUSSAIN, ALI HUSSAIN, NABIL BOUGHENNA and
SABAH BABAMIR are lawful permanent residents of the United States who meet all
statutory requirements for naturalization, including having successfully completed their
naturalization interviews nearly two (2) vears ago.

11.  Plaintiffs MOHAMMED YOUSUF, MOHAMED B. MOHAMED
LAMINE, SAMEEH AYYOUBI, and KHALIL HAMDAN are lawful permanent

residents of the United States who meet all statutory requirements for naturalization,
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including having successfully completed their naturalization interviews more than two (2)
years ago.

12.  Plaintiffs AKRAM JAWAD, IMAN KADOM, SAMIR OTHMAN, and EL
SHAFEY ASHOUR are lawful permanent residents of the United States who meet all
statutory requirements for naturalization, including having successfully completed their
naturalization interviews more than three (3) years ago.

13.  Plaintiffs ADIL AMRANI and FAYEZ AYOUB are lawful permanent
residents of the United States who meet all statutory requirements for naturalization,
including having successfully completed their naturalization interviews more than four
(4) years ago.

14,  Defendant SUSAN DUGAS is Orlando Field Office Director for U.S.
Citizenship and Immigration Services (“CIS”). Ms. Dugas is responsible for applications
for naturalization pending in the Orlando Field Office. She is sued in her official
capacity.

15. Defendant KATHY REDMAN is Tampa Field Office Director for CIS.
Ms. Redman is responsible for applications for naturalization pending in the Tampa Field
Office. The Tampa Field Office is also the seat of the “Tampa District” for CIS, which
includes the Orlando Field Office and the Tampa Field Office. Ms. Redman is sued in
her official capacity.

16. Defendant EMILIO T. GONZALEZ is Director of CIS. Mr. Gonzalez is
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responsible for processing and adjudicating all applications for naturalization submitted
to CIS. As Director of CIS, Mr. Gonzalez is also responsible for the scope and nature of
the background checks conducted for naturalization applications, which are defined by
CIS by regulation or otherwise. Mr. Gonzalez is sued in his official capacity.

17. Defendant MICHAEL CHERTOFF is Director of the U.S. Department of
Homeland Security (“DHS”), which encompasses CIS. Mr. Chertoff is ultimately
responsible for the administration of all immigration and naturalization laws, including
the processing and adjudication of applications for naturalization. He is sued in his
official capacity.

18. Defendant ROBERT S. MUELLER, III, is Director of the Federal Bureau
of Investigation (“FBI””). Mr. Mueller is ultimately responsible for the processing of
criminal background checks and administrative “name checks” which are part of the
background checks required by CIS during the naturalization process. He is sued in his
official capacity.

19. Defendant MICHAEL B. MUKASEY is Attorney General of the United
States. He is the head of the U.S. Department of Justice, which encompasses the FBI.
Mr. Mukasey is also jointly responsible with Mr. Chertoff for enforcing immigration

laws. Mr. Mukasey is sued in his official capacity.
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THE NATURALIZATION PROCESS

20.  Anindividual is statutorily eligible to become a naturalized citizen of the
United States if he has been a lawful permanent resident of the United States for the past
five (5) years, and is “a person of good moral character, attached to the principles of the
Constitution of the United States, and well disposed to the good order and happiness of
the United States.” 8 U.S.C. § 1427(a).

21. In order to become a naturalized citizen of the United States, a lawful
permanent resident must submit a detailed application, clear a background check, undergo
an in-person examination (or “interview”), and pass Civics and English language
requirements, unless those are waived.

BACKGROUND CHECKS

22.  In 1997, Congress passed an appropriations measure that prohibited the
then-Immigration and Naturalization Service (“INS”) from adjudicating any application
for naturalization until the INS “received confirmation from the Federal Bureau of
Investigation that a full criminal background check has been completed.” Pub.L. 105-
119, Tit. I, Nov. 26, 2007, 111 Stat. 2443.

23.  In 1998, INS promulgated regulations stating that “[t]he Service will notify
applicants for naturalization to appear before a Service officer for initial examination on
the naturalization application only after the Service has received a definitive response

from the Federal Bureau of Investigation that a full criminal background check of an
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applicant has been completed.” 8 C.F.R. § 335.2(b) (emphasis added).

24. A “definitive response” from the FBI is defined as: “(1) Confirmation from
the Federal Bureau of Investigation that an applicant does not have an administrative or a
criminal record; (2) Confirmation from the Federal Bureau of Investigation that an
applicant has an administrative or a criminal record; or (3) Confirmation from the Federal
Bureau of Investigation that two properly prepared fingerprint cards (Form FD-258) have
been determined unclassifiable for the purpose of conducting a criminal background
check and have been rejected.” 8 C.F.R. § 335.2(b).

25.  Thus, although Congress only requires that the FBI background check for

naturalization consist of a criminal background check, by regulation the INS broadened

the scope of the FBI background check to also include an administrative background
check.

26.  The “criminal” background check requires the FBI to search for arrests and
convictions using the applicant’s fingerprints, while the “administrative” check requires
the FBI to search its files to determine whether an applicant’s name appears as the subject
of any FBI investigation. The “administrative” check has also been referred to as a
“name check.”

27. In 2002, the INS was abolished with passage of the Homeland Security Act,
Pub. L. No. 107-296, 116 Stat. 2135 (2002), and its responsibilities were transferred to

departments within the U.S. Department of Homeland Security (“DHS”). Within DHS,
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U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services (“CIS”) assumed responsibility for
adjudicating applications for naturalization, including the background investigations
relevant to those applications.

CIS UNREASONABLY EXPANDS NAME CHECKS,
CAUSING UNREASONABLE AND UNLAWFUL DELAYS

28.  Starting in 2002, CIS dramatically expanded the scope of the “name
checks” it required for naturalization applicants, even though there was no change in the
law requiring or authorizing such expansion. CIS expanded the FBI “name checks” to
include an FBI search for any reference to the applicant’s name (or to a similar name, or
even to a common “fragment” of a name) in any file in every case, and for an indefinite
period of time.

29.  Name checks that include a search for all “references” can turn up a “hit” if
the applicant (or anyone with a similar name, or a common “fragment” of a name)
appears in any type of record (including, for example, personnel files) and for any reason
(including, for example, as a witness to — or victim of — a crime) at any time in the past.
Any such “hit” may then prompt further research by the FBI, which can cause the FBI to
manually search paper records that pre-date 1995 and have to be retrieved from any one
of about 265 physical locations around the country.

30. Name checks that include a search for all “references” are thus
extraordinarily time-consuming measures that at best may produce “hits” of negligible

value, and only cause unnecessary and unreasonable delay in the adjudication of

8
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applications for naturalization.

31.  In 2006, the CIS Ombudsman reported to Congress that:

The name checks are not sought by the FBI as part of ongoing

investigations or from a need to learn more about an individual

because of any threat or risk perceived by the FBI. Instead, the name

checks are a fee-for-service that the FBI provides to USCIS at its

request. Moreover, the FBI does not record any additional

information about the names USCIS submits and does not routinely

take any further action. Instead, the FBI reviews its files much like a

credit reporting entity would verify and report on information to

commercial entities requesting credit validations.

(emphasis in original).

32.  FBI “name checks” that include a search for all “references” have caused
extraordinary and unreasonable delays in the processing of naturalization applications,
with no tangible benefit offered in return.

33.  In 2007, the CIS Ombudsman reported to Congress that:

FBI name checks, one of several security screening tools used by USCIS,

continue to significantly delay adjudication of immigration benefits for

many customers, hinder backlog reductions efforts, and may not achieve

their intended national security objectives.

34. The expanded “name check” requirement for all naturalization applications
was implemented rashly by CIS without providing notice to, or soliciting comment from,
the public.

35.  CIS’ blanket requirement of expanded “name checks” that include a search

for all “references” in all cases has been irrational, bearing little or no relation to its

intended purpose.
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36. The expanded “name check” is not required by law.

37. CIS’ blanket requirement of expanded “name checks” that include a search
for all “references” in all cases has thus caused unreasonable and unlawful delays in the
adjudication of applications for naturalization.

38.  CIS has been, and is, aware of the unreasonableness of its current name
check requirement.

39.  In2007, the CIS Ombudsman reported to Congress that:

The Ombudsman agrees with the assessment of many case workers and
supervisors at USCIS field offices and service centers that the FBI name
check process has limited value to public safety or national security,

especially because in almost every case the applicant is in the United States
during the name check process, living or working without restriction.

(emphasis added).

40. In addition, CIS has been, and is, aware of the unreasonable delays the
expanded name check process causes applicants for naturalization.

41.  In2007, the CIS Ombudsman reported to Congress that:

FBI name checks may be the single biggest obstacle to the timely and

efficient delivery of immigration benefits. The problem of long-pending

FBI name check cases worsened during the reporting period.
(emphasis in original).

CIS AND FBI CAUSE ADDITIONAL DELAYS

42.  Upon information and belief, FBI causes additional delay by not timely

completing some “name checks” or “background checks” for naturalization applicants not

10
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because the checks are time-consuming or labor-intensive, but simply because the FBI
operates under the belief, shared by CIS, that there is absolutely no “deadline” for
completing them. These “name checks” are stalled because they are not being processed.

43,  CIS creates additional unreasonable delays by failing to process and act on
FBI background check results within a reasonable amount of time of receiving the results.

44.  CIS considers a “background check” to be “pending” both when CIS is
awaiting results from the FBI, and when CIS has received the results from the FBI but has
failed to complete its own review of them.

PLAINTIFFS’ APPLICATIONS FOR NATURALIZATION

Plaintiff ADIL, AMRANI

45. Plaintiff ADIL AMRANI, a Moroccan national, has been a lawful
permanent resident of the United States for more than twelve (12) years. He resides in
Orlando.

46. Mr. Amrani applied for naturalization on October 21, 2002, and underwent
his naturalization interview on February 12, 2004, passing the civics and language
requirements. For more than four (4) years since the interview, he has not received any
decision on his application.

47. Mr. Amrani has made several inquiries about the status of his case to
USCIS and the FBI, including with the assistance of U.S. Senator Bill Nelson, but these

have been to no avail.

11
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48.  Mr. Amrani has not been advised that there is any problem, issue or
question about his background. Rather, he has simply been told he must continue to wait.

49.  Mr. Amrani has suffered and continues to suffer prejudice from the
unreasonable delay of his naturalization. He has been deprived of the substantial and
unique rights and duties of U.S. citizenship, including the right to vote, to petition for his
wife as a U.S. citizen, and to pursue professional opportunities that require U.S.
citizenship.

50. Mr. Amrani has a degree in computer networking but presently works as a
taxi driver. He would like to move to an area with more high-tech markets to pursue a
career in his field, but has not done so out of fear that CIS will lose his file.

Plaintiffs AKRAM JAWAD and IMAN KADOM (Husband and Wife)

51. Plaintiffs AKRAM JAWAD and IMAN KADQOM, Iraqi nationals, have
been in the United States for well over a decade. Dr. Jawad, a retired surgeon who came
to the United States on a visa based on his extraordinary professional abilities, now works
as a real estate agent. Mrs. Kadom is a homemaker.

52.  Dr. Jawad and Mrs. Kadom have been lawful permanent residents of the
United States for more than eleven (11) years. They reside in Tampa with their three
children.

53. Dr. Jawad and Mrs. Kadom filed their applications for naturalization on

March 9, 2004, and passed their naturalization interviews on September 13, 2004. As

12
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early as the date of their interview, Dr. Jawad and Mrs. Jadom were advised that their
applications were on a “name check” hold. For more than three (3) years since the
interview, they have not received any decision on their applications.

54.  Dr. Jawad and Mrs. Kadom have made a number of inquiries into the status
of their applications over the past four years. They have regularly gone to the local CIS
office, sought the assistance of U.S. Senator Mel Martinez, contacted the FBI, and even
sent letters to Governor Jeb Bush and President George W. Bush to ascertain the status of
their applications.

55.  Dr. Jawad and Mrs. Kadom have never been advised of any derogatory
finding in their background check by the FBI or CIS, or asked for more information about
their background in conjunction with their applications for naturalization. Instead,
without explanation and notwithstanding the time limitations imposed by law, Defendants
have only indicated that Dr. Jawad and Mrs. Kadom must continue to wait, indefinitely.

56. Dr. Jawad and Mrs. Kadom have suffered and continue to suffer prejudice
from the unreasonable delay of their naturalization. They have been deprived of the
substantial and unique rights and duties of U.S. citizenship, including the right to vote and
pursue professional opportunities that require U.S. citizenship.

Plaintiffs ALI HUSSAIN and ASO HUSSAIN (Brothers)

57. Plaintiffs ALI HUSSAIN and ASO HUSSAIN, Iraqi nationals, have been

lawful permanent residents of the United States for more than seven (7) years. They are

13
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brothers and reside with their parents and siblings in Orlando.

58.  Ali and Aso Hussain are Kurds who fled the brutal regime of Saddam
Hussein and were granted asylum in the United States.

59.  Ali Hussain works as a machinist. His younger brother, Aso, is currently a
college student.

60.  Ali Hussain applied for naturalization on March 21, 2005, and underwent
his naturalization interview on February 22, 2006, passing the civics and language
requirements. For nearly two (2) years since the interview, he has not received any
decision on his application.

61.  Aso Hussain applied for naturalization on March 29, 2005, and underwent
his naturalization interview on February 28, 2006, passing the civics and language
requirements. For nearly two (2) years since the interview, he has not received any
decision on his application.

62.  Ali and Aso Hussain have made several inquiries about the status of their
applications, but these have been to no avail.

63. Al and Aso Hussain have not been advised that there is any problem, issue
or question about their background. Rather, they have simply been told they must
continue to wait.

64.  Ali and Aso Hussain have suffered and continue to suffer prejudice from

the unreasonable delay of their naturalization. They have been deprived of the substantial

14
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and unique rights and duties of U.S. citizenship, including the right to vote. While Ali
Hussain awaits an adjudication on his application, he is separated from his wife, who
remains in Iraq.

Plaintiff FAYEZ AYOUB

65. Plaintiff FAYEZ AYOUB, a Jordanian national, has been a lawful
permanent resident of the United States for nearly ten (10) years. He resides in Largo,
Florida.

66.  Mr. Ayoub applied for naturalization on May 12, 2003, and underwent his
naturalization interview on February 13, 2004, passing the civics and language
requirements. For more than four (4) years since the interview, he has not received any
decision on his application.

67.  Mr. Ayoub has made several inquiries about the status of his case to
USCIS, but these have been to no avail.

68.  Mr. Ayoub has not been advised that there is any problem, issue or question
about his background. Rather, he has simply been told he must continue to wait.

69. Mr. Ayoub has suffered and continues to suffer prejudice from the
unreasonable delay of his naturalization. He has been deprived of the substantial and
unique rights and duties of U.S. citizenship, including the right to vote and to petition for
his children as a U.S. citizen. While he awaits a decision on his case, Mr. Ayoub is

separated from his children, who live with their grandparents in Palestine.

15
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Plaintiff SAMIR OTHMAN

70.  Plaintiff SAMIR OTHMAN, a Jordanian national, has been a lawful
permanent resident of the United States for more than six (6) years.

71.  Mr. Othman resides in Tampa with his U.S. citizen wife, and four U.S.
citizen children. He is self-employed at an air conditioning service and repair firm.

72.  Mr. Othman applied for naturalization on April 12, 2004, and underwent his
naturalization interview on October 7, 2004, passing the civics and language
requirements. For more than three (3) years since the interview, he has not received any
decision on his application.

73.  Mr. Othman has not been advised that there is any problem, issue or
question about his background.

74.  Mr. Othman has suffered and continues to suffer prejudice from the
unreasonable delay of his naturalization. While he awaits an adjudication on his
application, Mr. Othman is deprived of the substantial and unique rights and duties of
U.S. citizenship, including the right to vote.

Plaintiff EL. SHAFEY ASHOUR

75.  Plaintiff EL SHAFEY ASHOUR, an Egyptian and Spanish national, has
been a lawful permanent resident of the United States for more than six (6) years. He
resides in St. Petersburg with his U.S. citizen wife.

76.  Mr. Ashour applied for naturalization on June 24, 2004, and underwent his

16
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naturalization interview on January 10, 2005, passing the civics and language
requirements. For more than three (3) years since the interview, he has not received any
decision on his application.

77.  Mr. Ashour has made several inquiries about the status of his case to
USCIS and the FBI, but these have been to no avail. On one occasion, USCIS told Mr.
Ashour that he might have to wait up to four years.

78.  Mr. Ashour has not been advised that there is any problem, issue or
question about his background. Rather, he has simply been told he must continue to wait.

79.  Mr. Ashour has suffered and continues to suffer prejudice from the
unreasonable delay of his naturalization. He has been deprived of the substantial and
unique rights and duties of U.S. citizenship, including the right to vote and to pursue
employment opportunities that require U.S. citizenship. Mr. Ashour would love to vote in
the upcoming election.

Plaintiff MOHAMMED YOUSUF

80. Plaintiff MOHAMMED YOUSUF, a Bangladeshi national, has been a
lawful permanent resident of the United States for more than nine (9) years. Mr. Yousuf
resides in Orlando with his U.S. citizen wife and children, and works in sales and
customer service.

81.  Mr. Yousuf applied for naturalization on March 22, 2004, and underwent

his naturalization interview on June 22, 2005, passing the civics and language

17
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requirements. Mr. Yousuf’s wife applied for naturalization around the same time, and her
application was promptly granted. For more than two-and-a-half (2)%) years since Mr.
Yousuf’s interview, however, he has not received any decision on his application.

82.  Mr. Yousuf has not been advised that there is any problem, issue or
question about his background.

83.  Mr. Yousuf has suffered and continues to suffer prejudice from the
unreasonable delay of his naturalization. He has been deprived of the substantial and
unique rights and duties of U.S. citizenship, including the right to vote

Plaintiff SAMEEH AYYOUBI

84. Plaintiff SAMEEH AYYOQOUBI, a Palestinian, has lived in the United States
for more than thirty (30) years. He has been a lawful permanent resident of the United
States for more than nine (9) years. Mr. Ayyoubi resides in Orlando with his U.S. citizen
wife, and three U.S. citizen children. He is a public high school teacher.

85.  Mr. Ayyoubi applied for naturalization on June 17, 2004, and underwent his
naturalization interview on August 24, 2005, passing the civics and language
requirements. For more than two-and-a-half (2!2) years since the interview, he has not
received any decision on his application.

86.  Mr. Ayyoubi has made several inquiries about the status of his case,
including with the assistance of U.S. Senator Bill Nelson, but these have been to no avail.

87.  Mr. Ayyoubi has not been advised that there is any problem, issue or

18
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question about his background. Rather, he has simply been told he must continue to wait.

88.  Mr. Ayyoubi has suffered and continues to suffer prejudice from the
unreasonable delay of his naturalization. He has been deprived of the substantial and
unique rights and duties of U.S. citizenship, including the right to vote.

Plaintiff MOHAMED B. MOHAMED LAMINE

89.  Plaintiff MOHAMED B. MOHAMED LAMINE, a national of Niger, has
been a lawful permanent resident of the United States for several years. He resides in
Tampa with his wife and children.

90. Mr. Mohamed Lamine applied for naturalization on May 13, 2005, and
underwent his naturalization interview on November 21, 2005, passing the civics and
language requirements. For more than two (2) years since his interview, however, Mr.
Mohamed Lamine has not received any decision on his application.

91. Mr. Mohamed Lamine has not been advised that there is any problem, issue
or question about his background.

92.  Mr. Mohamed Lamine has suffered and continues to suffer prejudice from
the unreasonable delay of his naturalization. He has been deprived of the substantial and
unique rights and duties of U.S. citizenship, including the right to vote.

Plaintiff KHALIL, HAMDAN

93. Plaintiff KHALIL HAMDAN, a Jordanian national, has been a lawful

permanent resident of the United States for nearly six (6) years. He resides in Tampa

19
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with his U.S. citizen wife and their two-year-old U.S. citizen child. Mr. Hamdan works
as general manager for a wholesale distribution company.

94.  Mr. Hamdan applied for naturalization on January 20, 2005, and
underwent his naturalization interview on January 27, 2006, passing the civics and
language requirements. For more than two (2) years since the interview, Mr. Hamdan has
not received any decision on his application.

95. Mr. Hamdan has made inquiries about the status of his case, but these have
been to no avail.

96. Mr. Hamdan has not been advised that there is any problem, issue or
question about his background.

97.  Mr. Hamdan has suffered and continues to suffer prejudice from the
unreasonable delay of his naturalization. While he awaits an adjudication on his
application, Mr. Hamdan is deprived of the substantial and unique rights and duties of
U.S. citizenship, including the right to vote.

Plaintiff NABIL, BOUGHENNA

98. Plaintiff NABIL BOUGHENNA, a Moroccan national, has been a lawful
permanent resident of the United States for more than seven (7) years. Mr. Boughenna
resides in Kissimmee with his U.S. citizen wife and their four-year-old son.

99.  Mr. Boughenna applied for naturalization on August 10, 2005, and

underwent his naturalization interview in April 2006, passing the civics and language

20
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requirements. For nearly two (2) years since the interview, he has not received any
decision on his application.

100. Mr. Boughenna has made several inquiries about the status of his case,
including with the assistance of U.S. Senator Mel Martinez, but these have been to no
avail.

101. In February 2007, Senator Martinez wrote a letter to Mr. Boughenna
reporting that according to FBI, Mr. Boughenna’s FBI check was completed in August
2005, with the results forward to CIS. Yet in February 2008, CIS continued to tell Mr.
Boughenna that his case was delayed because background checks had not yet been
completed.

102. Mr. Boughenna has not been advised that there is any problem, issue or
question about his background. Rather, he has simply been told he must continue to wait.

103. Mr. Boughenna has suffered and continues to suffer prejudice from the
unreasonable delay of his naturalization. He has been deprived of the substantial and
unique rights and duties of U.S. citizenship, including the right to vote.

Plaintiff SABAH BABAMIR

104. Plaintiff SABAH BABAMIR, an Iraqi national, has been a lawful
permanent resident of the United States for more than seven (7) years. She resides in
Orlando with her mother and sister.

105. Ms. Babamir applied for naturalization on July 6, 2005, and underwent her

21



Case 6:08-cv-00246-GKS-KRS  Document1  Filed 02/19/2008 Page 22 of 31

naturalization interview in April 2006, passing the civics and language requirements. For
nearly two (2) years since the interview, she has not received any decision on her
application.

106. Ms. Babamir has not been advised that there is any problem, issue or
question about her background.

107. Ms. Babamir has suffered and continues to suffer prejudice from the
unreasonable delay of her naturalization. She has been deprived of the substantial and
unique rights and duties of U.S. citizenship, including the right to vote.

DEFENDANTS’ POLICIES AND PRACTICES

108. Defendants DUGAS, REDMAN, GONZALEZ and CHERTOFF have a
policy, pattern and practice of failing to adjudicate Plaintiffs’ applications for
naturalization within 120 days of the naturalization examination, in violation of federal
law.

109. Defendants DUGAS, REDMAN, GONZALEZ and CHERTOFF have a
policy, pattern and practice of unlawfully withholding and unreasonably delaying
adjudication of Plaintiffs’ applications for naturalization by arbitrarily and capriciously
requiring irrational and indefinitely prolonged background checks, including “name
checks” that include a search for all “references” and are not required by law.

110. Defendants DUGAS, REDMAN, GONZALEZ and CHERTOFF have a

policy, pattern and practice of unreasonably requiring “name checks” that include a
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search for all “references,” indiscriminately and for an indefinite duration, before
adjudicating Plaintiffs’ applications for naturalization, despite no statutory or regulatory
requirement for such name checks before an application can be adjudicated.

111. Defendants DUGAS, REDMAN, GONZALEZ and CHERTOFF have a
policy, pattern and practice of unlawfully withholding and unreasonably delaying
adjudication of Plaintiffs’ applications for naturalization by failing to promptly act on
applications after they receive background check results from the FBI.

112. Defendants MUELLER and MUKASEY have a policy, pattern and
practice of unreasonably delaying the completion of background checks with the full
knowledge that CIS requires the completion of such checks for adjudicating all
applications for naturalization.

113. Defendants MUELLER and MUKASEY have a policy, pattern and practice
of failing to process background checks for some naturalization applicants, operating on
the belief that they is absolutely no “deadline” to complete them.

114. Defendants have a policy, pattern and practice of failing to set parameters
or deadlines for conducting and completing background checks within a reasonable time,
and taking all other reasonable steps necessary to complete the adjudication of
applications for naturalization in a lawful and timely fashion, despite being on notice of
the problem for years.

115. Plaintiffs are informed and believe that Defendants do not have any policies
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or practices in place to ensure timely adjudication of naturalization applications in
compliance with the law.

116. As a result of Defendants’ policies, practices, actions and omissions,
Plaintiffs have suffered injury, in that they have been unlawfully denied the rights and
benefits of U.S. citizenship for years since undergoing their naturalization interviews.

RELIEF SOUGHT

117. Plaintiffs seek a declaration by the Court that Defendants have engaged in
unreasonable and extraordinary delay in adjudicating their naturalization applications, in
violation of 8 U.S.C. § 1447(b) and the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 555
and 706. In light of this extraordinary and unlawful delay, Plaintiffs seek an order
compelling Defendants to complete any pending background check and adjudicate their
applications for naturalization within 30 days of an order by the Court, pursuant to the
Court’s authority under the APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 555 and 706; 8 U.S.C. § 1447(b) (court’s
authority to remand applications for naturalization with specific instructions); and 28
U.S.C. § 1361 (mandamus).

118. Inan April 25, 2006 interoffice memorandum, CIS admitted that, in delayed
naturalization cases where a court has given “USCIS and FBI a deadline within which to
complete the [background] check . . . the government has been able to complete the

process within the court ordered deadline.”
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PERMISSIVE JOINDER

119. Plaintiffs bring this action jointly pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 20, which allows for permissive joinder. Rule 20 provides that “persons may
join in one action as plaintiffs if (A) they assert any right to relief jointly, severally, or in
the alternative with respect to or arising out of the same transaction, occurrence, or series
of transactions or occurrences; and (B) any question of law or fact common to all
plaintiffs will arise in the action.” Fed.R.Civ.P. 20(a).

120. This action arises out of the same transaction or occurrence, or series of
transactions or occurrences, in that the unlawful delays challenged are the result of the
same pattern or practice by Defendants of unreasonably and unlawfully delaying the
adjudication of applications for naturalization based on “background” or “security”
checks.

121. This action also raises common issues of law and fact. As a factual matter,
Plaintiffs are similarly situated. All have submitted applications for naturalization, are
eligible for naturalization, have successfully completed their naturalization interviews,
and have been awaiting adjudication on their applications for more than a year beyond the
statutory deadline of 120 days after their interviews. Plaintiffs have been told or have
reason to believe that the sole reason for the delay is pendency of the “background” or
“security” check.

122. As a factual and legal matter, Plaintiffs allege that they have been injured
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by the same pattern or practice by Defendants of unlawfully and unreasonably delaying
adjudication of their applications. Plaintiffs allege that Defendants’ unlawful delay is
based on the same pattern or practice by CIS of requiring an irrational “name check” that
includes a search for all references as part of the FBI background check in all cases, and
by then failing to act within a reasonable time after receiving results from the FBI, as well
as FBI’s pattern or practice of failing to process “name checks” for naturalization
applicants on the belief that there is absolutely no “deadline” to complete them.

123. In addition, Plaintiffs allege similar harms from the delay of their
naturalization applications, including, but not limited to, the inability to participate in
civic society by voting, delays in family reunification, the inability to apply for jobs that
require U.S. citizenship, and the anxiety of having an uncertain status in the country they
have made their home and where they have established themselves as part of a
community.

124. Lastly, Plaintiffs jointly seek the same legal remedy: a declaration that
Defendants have engaged in unreasonable and extraordinary delay in adjudicating
Plaintiffs’ naturalization applications, and an order compelling Defendants to complete
any pending background check, and adjudicate their applications for naturalization,
within 30 days of the Court’s order.

125. This action thus satisfies the requirements for permissive joinder. It

involves the same transaction (Defendants’ unlawful policies, patterns and practices); and
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common questions of law and fact (regarding the lawfulness of Defendants’ actions).
Permissive joinder of these Plaintiffs, rather than multiple individual actions raising the
same factual and legal allegations, would serve the purpose of Rule 20 by promoting
judicial efficiency.

DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF ALLEGATIONS

126. An actual and substantial controversy exists between Plaintiffs and
Defendants as to their respective legal rights and duties. Plaintiffs contend that
Defendants’ actions violate Plaintiffs’ rights. Defendants have refused to adjudicate
Plaintiffs’ applications for naturalization in compliance with the law.

127. Defendants’ failure to timely adjudicate Plaintiffs’ naturalization
applications has caused and will continue to cause irreparable injury to Plaintiffs.
Plaintiffs have no plain, speedy and adequate remedy at law.

CAUSES OF ACTION
FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

RIGHT TO REMAND WITH SPECIFIC INSTRUCTIONS:; 8 U.S.C. §1447(b)
[By Plaintiffs Against Defendants Dugas, Redman, Gonzalez and Chertoff]

128. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 127 above are repeated
and incorporated as though fully set forth herein.

129. Because Defendants have failed to adjudicate Plaintiffs’ naturalization
applications within 120 days of the naturalization examination, Plaintiffs are entitled to

remand of the applications to CIS with specific instructions, including a specific deadline
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in which to complete background checks and adjudicate the applications, under 8 U.S.C.
§ 1447(b).

130. This Court should remand Plaintiffs’ applications for naturalization with
specific instructions to complete background checks and adjudicate the applications
within 30 days of the Court’s order because Plaintiffs are eligible for naturalization;
Defendants have failed to comply with time limitations imposed by law; Defendants have
failed to act within a reasonable time; Defendants have already been given ample open-
ended opportunity to act even beyond the time permitted by law, but have still failed to do
so; and Defendants admit they are able to comply with such orders.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
UNREASONABLE DELAY IN VIOLATION OF
THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE ACT
[By Plaintiffs Against All Defendants]

131. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 though 127above are repeated
and incorporated as though fully set forth herein.

132. The Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) requires administrative
agencies to conclude matters presented to them “within a reasonable time.” 5 U.S.C.

§ 555(b). A district court reviewing agency action may “compel agency action unlawfully
withheld or unreasonably delayed.” 5 U.S.C. § 706(1). “Agency action” includes, in
relevant part, “an agency rule, order, license, sanction, relief, or the equivalent or denial

thereof, or failure to act.” 5 U.S.C. § 551(13).
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133. The failure of Defendants MUKASEY and MUELLER to complete
background checks within a reasonable time, particularly with the full knowledge that
CIS requires completion of such background checks for adjudicating Plaintiffs’
applications for naturalization, violates the APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 555(b) and 706.

134. The failure of Defendants DUGAS, REDMAN, GONZALEZ and
CHERTOFF to review and act upon background check results received from the FBI
within a reasonable time violates the APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 555(b) and 706.

135. The failure of Defendants DUGAS, REDMAN, GONZALEZ and
CHERTOFF to adjudicate Plaintiffs’ applications for naturalization within 120 days of
their naturalization examinations violates the APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 555(b) and 706.

136. As a result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiffs have suffered and continue to
suffer injury. Declaratory and injunctive relief are therefore warranted.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that the Court:

A.  Assume jurisdiction over the matter;

B. Remand Plaintiffs’ applications for naturalization to CIS with the specific
instructions that Defendants complete background checks and adjudicate their
applications within 30 days of the Court’s order, pursuant to 8 U.S.C. § 1447(b);

C. Compel CIS and FBI to complete background checks and adjudicate their

applications within 30 days of the Court’s order, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706(1) and/or 28
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U.S.C. § 1361;

D.  Issue a declaratory judgment holding unlawful (1) the failure of Defendants
DUGAS, REDMAN, GONZALEZ and CHERTOFF to adjudicate Plaintiffs’ applications
for naturalization within 120 days of the date of the naturalization interview; (2) the
failure of Defendants MUKASEY and MUELLER to complete background checks within
a reasonable time; (3) the failure of Defendants DUGAS, REDMAN, GONZALEZ and
CHERTOFF to review and act upon background checks received from the FBI within a
reasonable time; and (4) the failure of Defendants to take all necessary steps to assure that
applications for naturalization are adjudicated within 120 days of the date of the
naturalization interview as required by law;

E. Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney fees and costs pursuant to the Equal
Access to Justice Act, 5 U.S.C. § 504 and 28 U.S.C. § 2412; and

F. Grant any and all further relief this Court deems just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

2 AU

Khurrum B. Wahid

Fla. Bar No. 178764

Wahid, Vizcaino & Maher

3191 Coral Way, Suite 406

Miami, FL 33145

Tel: (305) 444-4303

Fax: (305) 444-4302

Email: khurrum@wvmlawfirm.com
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Mary M. Gundrum

Fla. Bar. No. 937339

Florida Immigrant Advocacy Center
3000 Biscayne Blvd., Suite 400
Miami, FL 33137

Tel: (305) 573-1106, ext. 1020

Fax: (305) 576-6273

Email: mgundrum@fiacfla.org

Cheryl Little

Fla. Bar No. 655678

Florida Immigrant Advocacy Center
3000 Biscayne Blvd., Suite 400
Miami, FL 33137

Tel: (305) 573-1106, ext. 1001

Fax: (305) 576-6273

Email: clittle@fiacfla.org

Tania Galloni

Fla. Bar No: 619221

Florida Immigrant Advocacy Center
3000 Biscayne Blvd., Suite 400
Miami, FL 33137

Tel: (305) 573-1106, ext. 1080

Fax: (305) 576-6273

Email: tgalloni@fiacfla.org

Attorneys for Plaintiffs-Petitioners
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